FEB 0 7 2018



No. 347231

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_\_

(Spokane County Superior Court No. 15-204751-0)

#### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### SVETLANA KOREN as parent and Guardian of ERIC KOREN

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY, a foreign entity authorized to perform the business of insurance in Washington,

Respondents.

#### PETITIONER FOR CERTIFICATION OF REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

M CASEY LAW, PLLC Marshall Casey, WSBA #42552 1106 N. Washington, Ste B Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 368-9284

Attorney for Petitioners

					<u>TA</u>	<u>BLE OF</u>	CONTI	<u>ENTS</u>

#### **III. Issues Presented for Review:**

A. What type of injuries did the Legislature intend to cover when it mandated in 1993 that insurance companies offer personal injury protection ("PIP") insurance to consumers?

1. Was the Appellate Court correct that the legislative policy adopted in 1993 only intended PIP coverage to protect insureds if the insured was injured in an accident that involved a "passenger vehicle designed to carry ten (10) people or less," or was the legislative intent to use of the term "automobile accident" to adopt the then case law definition of *Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington v. Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. 475, 478, 718 P.2d 812, 813 (1986), a forceful collision of one or more vehicles, causing injury to a person? 2. Does the Appellate Court ruling improperly limit the PIP insurance a consumer can purchase for the purpose of protecting themselves, and their resident family members?

B. Does the Appellate Court improperly use the defined term of "automobile" to interpret the undefined term of "automobile accident?" Should the undefined term "automobile accident" be interpreted based upon "plain, ordinary, and popular" meaning of the whole term "automobile accident" in a way that looks at the use of the vehicle and its relation to the injuries, rather than the type of the vehicle as the Court of Appeals did here?

C. [Not addressed by the Court of Appeals, but briefed by all parties],Was Eric Koren excluded from coverage when he was in the school bus,because he rode a school bus to and from school on a regular basis?

#### IV. Statement of the Case

State Farm sold Svetlana Koren automobile liability insurance, and with that sale offered her PIP insurance as required by Washington Law. CP 53. Eric Koren<sup>1</sup> is Svetlana's son who was residing in her home, and is an insured under the PIP insurance policy.

The insurance contract covered injuries that were caused by an "automobile accident." The contract defined "automobile" as a vehicle designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less.

When Eric was 11 years old, he was in a school bus going to school. The school bus collided with another school bus, and Eric was injured from that collision. CP 40; 9,14.

Svetlana submitted a claim to State Farm for PIP coverage. State Farm acknowledged that Eric was an insured under the policy, but denied coverage because his injuries did not come from an "automobile accident." State Farm said that because neither school bus was designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less it was not an "automobile accident" that caused his injuries. CP 46-47.

State Farm said that it also reserved the right to decline coverage because Eric rode a school bus to and from school on a regular basis. State Farm determined that this fit within in the exclusion of "a family member occupying a vehicle available to that family member for his/her regular use." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Eric Koren was referred to as E.K. in the Court of Appeals' briefs because of his minority, but now is referred to by his first name only instead of using "Mr. Svetlana" and "Ms. Svetlana" to avoid confusion when two people share the same last name.

Svetlana filed suit against State Farm in November of 2015. She requested declaratory relief finding that Eric was covered by PIP, as well as breach of contract and extra contractual claims (IFCA, Bad Faith, and CPA). CP 8-12. Both sides brought cross summary judgment motions on the issue of coverage. CP 19-34; CP 92-104. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of State Farm, but noted in the memorandum ruling: "I cannot imagine that the legislature ever intended to limit an insured's PIP protections when two buses are involved." CP 150.

The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review of the ruling. On January 9, 2018 the Court of Appeals ruled that two school busses colliding did not constitute an "automobile accident," and the Washington's PIP statutes and public policy only contemplates coverage for accidents that involve at least one "automobile" designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less. *Koren v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, No. 34723-1-III, filed January 9, 2018.

#### IV. Argument

The Court of Appeals ruling holds that Washington consumers are only guarantied coverage for PIP if they are injured in an accident that involved at least one "automobile." An "automobile" as defined in State Farm's insurance contract, and RCW 48.22.005(1) is a passenger vehicle designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less. The Appellate Court ruling judicially limits the minimum coverage of PIP so that it no longer covers certain accidents, some examples of which are

- Pedestrian versus bus
- Bicyclist versus twelve (12) passenger van
- Bus versus bus

Yet, in 1993 when the Legislature mandated the sale of PIP insurance to consumers, the case law defined "automobile accident" as the forcible collision of one or more vehicles causing injury to the insured. *Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington v. Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. 475, 478, 718 P.2d 812, 813 (1986). The Legislature decided that consumers should be able to buy insurance that would cover the named insured and their resident family members, even when they were not in the insured automobile. RCW 48.22.085; RCW 48.22.005(5)(a). PIP coverage was meant to provide the insured and their family members "adequate and prompt reparation for certain economic losses" when they were "victims of motor vehicle accidents."<sup>2</sup> *Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 52, 62, 322 P.3d 6, 12 (2014). "Washington insurance statutes are to be liberally construed for the benefit of the public." *Certification From United States Dist. Court ex rel. W. Dist. of Washington v. GEICO* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The case law in 1993 found "automobile accident" to mean the same as "motor vehicle accident." *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 478.

Ins. Co., 184 Wn.2d 925, 933, 366 P.3d 1237, 1241 (2016).

Under the Appellate Court's ruling, an insurance company must still offer the consumer a chance to buy PIP to cover themselves and their family members when they are not in the insured automobile, but this coverage is now limited. Now the insurance company does not have to offer PIP coverage for injuries where the consumer is a pedestrian, bicyclist, or bus rider when they are hit by something other than a passenger vehicle.

The Korens urge the Supreme Court to hear this matter because (A) whether or not the Legislature intended to limit PIP coverage for only accidents that involve a passenger vehicle is an important public interest. (B) The other important public interest is whether or not consumers should be able to purchase PIP insurance that broadly covers them and their family when they are not in the insured automobile.

(C) Lastly, the Supreme Court should review this case because This Appellate Court ruling abrogates the arc of Washington case law on what injuries are covered by PIP. Previous case law, much like the case law on underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage, triggered coverage by the looking at how the vehicle was used and whether or not that caused the complained of injuries. This follows the pattern of "automobile accident" and "motor vehicle accident" being interpreted as a regular consumer of insurance would interpret them; based on the image they evoke. The Appellate Court ruling abrogates those cases, to focus on the type of vehicle in the accident rather than the usage of the vehicle. The Supreme Court's opinion, either approving or changing this focus, is important for the arc of Washington case law on insurance.

<u>A. The legislative history on PIP shows that it was the intent of</u> <u>the Legislature to adopt the case law definition of "automobile</u> <u>accident" as it then was, rather than to limit coverage to only</u> <u>accidents that included the defined "automobile"</u>

Insurance coverage mandated by statute becomes part of the insurance contract. *Kyrkos v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 669, 672, 852 P.2d 1078, 1080 (1993). In interpreting a statute, the court's objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent. *AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. Lewis*, 180 Wn.2d 389, 393, 325 P.3d 904, 906 (2014).

There is no dispute the PIP statutes define the term "automobile," but not "automobile accident." RCW 48.22.005. In 1993 the Legislature took the permissive offering of PIP insurance, and made it mandatory for insurance companies to offer PIP insurance every time the insurer sold automobile liability insurance. Laws of 1993, ch. 242 §2. At that time the case law in *Grelis* had defined "automobile accident" as the forcible collision of one or more vehicles that causes injury to a person. *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 478.

The question is whether or not the Legislature used "automobile accident" to adopt the case law as it stood on PIP in 1993, or whether the Legislature intended to limit coverage to only accidents that included at least one defined "automobile"? Since the Legislature is presumed to know the case law of the area in which it legislates, the history of the 1993 legislation will show that the Legislature was attempting to adopt the case law definition from *Grelis. Woodson v. State*, 95 Wn.2d 257, 262, 623 P.2d 683, 685 (1980).

### 1. The PIP bill passed out of the House as ESHB 1233 only contained "accident" as the triggering event for coverage

After going through committees the House of Representatives passed ESHB 1233 in a 97 to 0 vote. See Appendix A- Legislative History of ESHB. The House Committee on Financial Insurance & Institutions noted that most companies offered PIP insurance, and that this bill was to make PIP insurance a mandatory offering any time automobile liability insurance was sold. Appendix B- House Bill Report, HB 1233, February 4, 1993. When ESHB 1233 passed the House it provided that a consumer could buy PIP coverage for themselves and their resident family members, even when they and their family members were not in the "insured automobile." Appendix C- ESHB 1223 as passed out of the House of Representatives \$1(5)(a). It also provided that a consumer could purchase PIP to coverage passengers occupying an insured automobile, drivers using the insured automobile, and pedestrians hit by the insured automobile. *Id.* at \$1(5)(b).

ESHB 1233 provided medical benefits for injuries that were the result of an "accident." *Id.* at \$1(7). Under ESHB 1233 passed by the House, the term "automobile" was used to define the term "insured automobile" and later the "automobile liability insurance" that triggered PIP to be sold to the consumer. *Id.* at \$1(1),(4),(8), \$2(1). This limited the mandatory sale of PIP to only when a person was purchasing automobile liability insurance for a passenger vehicle designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less.

At this time the *Grelis* case had litigated whether or not a person accidently knifed in a vehicle was covered by PIP. *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 476-477. In *Grelis*, a mugger had tripped over a van seat and stabbed the insured. *Id.* There was no dispute that this injury was caused by an "accident," but the question was whether or not it was caused by an

ł

"automobile accident." *Id.* at 477. The *Grelis* court found that "automobile accident" evoked an image of one or more vehicles in forceful contact with another vehicle or person causing physical injury. *Id.* at 478. Based on that, the *Grelis* held, "Here, Grelis's injuries were caused by the robbery. The fact that the van seats were incidentally involved does not convert this incident into an 'automobile accident."" *Id.* 

At the time ESHB 1233 passed the House of Representatives, it would have modified *Grelis* to mandate PIP so that it covered accidental knifings in vans as "accidents". It is within this context that ESHB 1233 passed to the Senate.

# 2. The Senate amended ESHB 1233 for clarification purposes, and in doing so added "automobile accident."

The Senate amended ESHB 1233 with various "clarifying amendments." Appendix D- Senate Bill Report on ESHB 1233, April 1, 1993. While the Senate did some substantive changes, those "concern[ed] claim procedures, including access to medical records." *Id.* It was during this process that the term "automobile accident" was used for medical benefits coverage in PIP. Appendix E-ESHB 1233 – Senate Amendment, adopted April 16, 1993.

The changes to the ESHB 1233 do not impact the use of

"automobile" as a term to limit mandatory PIP offering to consumers. The Senate report does not reflect any intent to limit the scope of PIP coverage to only accidents that include defined "automobiles"; or passenger vehicles designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less.

Instead, the Senate changes adopted *Grelis*, by limiting PIP to only accidents that the term "automobile accident" evokes in the average consumer buying PIP insurance. Since tESHB 1233 prior to the amendment would have overturned *Grelis*, and the Senate is presumed to be aware of *Grelis*, the most reasonable conclusion is that the Senate intended to adopt *Grelis* by using the same "automobile accident" used in *Grelis*. There is no basis to find Senate amendments to ESHB 1233 were an attempt to limit the mandatory insurance coverage of PIP, like the Court of Appeals did in its *Koren v. State Farm* opinion.

3. The post Senate amendment law supports that the "automobile accident" was meant as a clarification and not a major change in the scope of PIP coverage like the Appeals Court has judicially done in this ruling

Four days after the Senate adopted its amendments, the House of Representatives again unanimously passed ESHB 1233. Appendix E-ESHB 1233 as passed by Legislature. This was signed by the governor into law on May 7, 1993, becoming the Laws of 1993, Chapter 242, and into the RCW's in chapter 48.22 of the RCWs. Appendix F- Chapter 242, Laws of 1993.

The final synopsis on the law summarizes their work as follows: Automobile liability insurance companies must provide PIP coverage under nonbusiness auto insurance policies unless the named insured rejects PIP coverage in writing. Insurers need not provide PIP coverage for motor homes or motorcycles, for intentional injuries, for injuries arising from war, from toxic waste exposure or <u>from accidents</u> while the insured is occupying an owned but uninsured auto, or <u>from</u> accidents to the insured's relative while occupying an auto owned by the relative.

Appendix G- Chapter 242, Laws of 1993 Synopsis as Enacted, emphasis added.

The last change to the PIP legislative policy<sup>3</sup> was in 2003. These changes were "technical revisions" that included the addition of "automobile accident" throughout the legislation. The substantive changes were clarifications that PIP limits were minimum offerings and not maximums. The purpose of the substantive changes were to "[allow]

insurers to offer more extensive PIP benefits should they so choose." This bill unanimously passed the House and Senate, without any discussion of limiting PIP coverage to the named insured or their resident family members. Appendix H- Final Bill Report HB1084, Laws of 2003, Chapter

<sup>3</sup> In 2015 the PIP laws were modified to accommodate commercial ride sharing programs such as Uber, but that is outside the scope of this matter.

115.

This legislative history shows that the intent of the Legislature was not to limit coverage to accidents that involved a defined "automobile," but rather to adopt the limitation *Grelis* put on "accident." "Automobile accident" was meant to cover what that term evoked in the normal purchaser of PIP, a forcible collision of vehicles that caused personal injury. Anything else violates the legislative intent of the mandatory PIP offering.

# **B.** Consumers should be allowed to buy the PIP coverage intended by the Legislature

The Legislature clearly intended consumers to be able to buy PIP that would cover themselves and their family members even when they were not in the "insured automobile." Laws of 1993, ch. 242 §1(5)(a); RCW 48.22.005(5)(1). The purpose of PIP is "to provide victims of motor vehicle accidents adequate and prompt reparation for certain economic losses at the lowest cost to both the individual and the no-fault insurance system." *Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 52, 62, 322 P.3d 6, 12 (2014).

The mandatory PIP offering of 1993 was very similar to the mandatory UIM offering that had been law in Washington since 1967.

Exhibit D- Senate Bill Report on ESHB 1233, Testimony for.

When insurance companies tried to limit UIM coverage that was mandated by the UIM laws, this Court struck that down as being against public policy. *Tissell By & Through Cayce v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 107, 116, 795 P.2d 126, 130 (1990). In particular the *Tissell* court noted that it violated public policy if a consumer could not buy the mandated coverage for themselves or their family members, since that was a main requirement of the statute. *Id.* 

The Appeals Court ruling in this matter judicially limits the consumers' ability to buy coverage to protect themselves and their family members as pedestrians, bicyclists, or bus riders. Under this ruling a consumer can still buy coverage when their family members are pedestrians, bicyclists or bus riders, but only if they are hit by a passenger vehicle designed to carry ten (10) passengers or less.

In an interesting contrast, the consumer can still by insurance that will always cover pedestrians they hit with their "insured automobile." Since the pedestrian hit by an "insured automobile" will always be in the judicially defined "automobile accident," they are always covered. This means that consumers are offered more coverage for the stranger they hit with their vehicle, than for themselves or their family members when they are pedestrians. This limitation on consumers to cover themselves and family members is an important public interest that needs to be addressed by this Court.

## <u>C. The arc of Washington Law on PIP insurance disagrees</u> with the Appellate Court's ruling

The arc of Washington case law has been to give the terms "automobile accident" and "motor vehicle accident" "a fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." *Tyrrell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington*, 140 Wn.2d 129, 136, 994 P.2d 833, 837 (2000); *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 478. Based on this common understanding, the *Grelis* court gave automobile accident the meaning described above, of forceful collision of one or more vehicles causing injury. *Grelis*, supra. *Tyrrell* gave "motor vehicle accident" the meaning of an accident that occurs when operating a motor vehicle, such as driving it. *Tyrrell*, 140 Wn.2d at 137.

The limitation term "automobile accident" and "motor vehicle accident" have been used to describe a type of accident, rather than a type of vehicle that must be involved in the accident, like the Appellate Court decision did here. There was no dispute that *Grelis* involved the van seats where he was "accidently" knifed, but such an "accident" would not strike the average consumer as an "automobile accident." *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 477 (the robber tripped on the van seats and stabbed Grelis). In *Tyrrell*, question was whether or not falling off his motor vehicle was a "motor vehicle accident." *Tyrrel*, 140 Wn.2d at 136. Both the courts did not look at the type of vehicle involved, but instead noted that the terms invoked a certain type of accident, rather than an accident that involved a certain type of vehicle. These cases have not merely used the "automobile" or "motor vehicle" as the modifier of "accident," but have instead looked at the entire term to see kind of accident it conveys to the average consumer buying insurance.

On PIP's older brother of mandatory offering, UIM (mandated in 1967), our case law on what types of accidents triggers coverage is much more robust. Even so, as late as last year, this Court said the case law still did not offer a clear rule to determine whether an injury was covered by UIM. *Certification From United States Dist. Court ex rel. W. Dist. of Washington v. GEICO Ins. Co., 184 Wn.2d 925*, 930, 366 P.3d 1237, 1239 (2016). After going through the UIM case law, this Court found that a vehicle could not be the mere situs, or coincidental location of the injury. *Id.* at 934. Instead there must be some causal connection between the events leading up to the injury, and the use of the vehicle. *Id.* 

The PIP case law is headed down the same trajectory as UIM, of

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