FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/14/2018 1:16 PM

No. 347231 (Spokane County Superior Court No. 15-2-04751-0)

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SVETLANA KOREN as parent and Guardian of ERIC KOREN,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY, a foreign entity authorized to perform the business of insurance in Washington,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory S. Worden, WSBA #24262 William W. Simmons, WSBA #35604 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 436-2020 Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioner seeks to turn the law governing the interpretation of insurance contracts in Washington on its head by asking the courts to consider public policy first, before interpreting the clear and unambiguous language of the policy. The courts must first look to the policy language,

and enforce its clear and plain meaning where no ambiguity exists. That is precisely what occurred at the trial court level and with the Court of Appeals. The petition should be denied because the decision is not in conflict with, but rather, is consistent with existing Washington law.

Further, despite Petitioner's strenuous attempts to create a public policy concern, the decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that needs to be addressed by this Court. Under the express language of the statute requiring mandatory PIP offering, the statute only contemplates PIP coverage for automobiles, not for all motor vehicle accidents. To the extent any public policy concern is raised, it must be addressed to the legislature, not the courts.

A. Standards Governing Acceptance Of Review Compel Rejection Of The Petition.

RAP 13.4 sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review:

- **(b)** Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:
- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
 - (3) If a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioner does not address those considerations. Instead Petitioner simply argues that the matter was wrongly decided by both the trial court and Court of Appeals, and that it is in the public interest for the court to take the case. The problem for Petitioner is that nothing in the petition shows that the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted the policy language or the relevant Washington authority. Furthermore, her argument contravenes the express language of the authorizing statutes. To the extent she has any legitimate public interest concern, it is for the legislature to address.

- B. The Petition Should Be Rejected Because The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of The Supreme Court Or The Court Of Appeals.
 - 1. The Instant Decision Is Consistent With, And Relies Upon, Grelis and Tyrrell.

Petitioner does not address either of the first two considerations for granting appeal. This is likely because the Court of Appeals already considered and rejected any argument that could be made by Petitioner. Before the Court of Appeals, Mrs. Koren argued that the Court should turn

a blind eye to the language in her insurance policy and instead rely on inapposite cases involving criminal conduct in and around automobiles to establish that Eric was involved in an "automobile accident."

Both of the cases cited by Petitioner in support of her argument, *Grelis* and *Tyrrell* are consistent with the instant Court of Appeals decision. In fact, the Court of Appeals relied upon both decisions as support for the conclusion that the word "automobile" modifies the word "accident" in the State Farm policy and compels the conclusion that Ms. Koren's claim does not qualify for PIP coverage. *Koren, supra* at 959-60.

Petitioner's reliance on *Grelis* is misplaced. In *Grelis*, the Court of Appeals, Division II was tasked with deciding whether a stabbing incident that occurred in a parked automobile qualified as an "automobile accident." *Grelis*, 43 Wn. App. at 477-78. Neither party disputed the fact that the insured's injuries were the result of an accident from the standpoint of the insured. The court affirmed Farmers' denial of coverage because the stabbing incident only incidentally occurred in a parked automobile, and did not result from an "automobile accident." *Id*.

The issue was rather whether the word "accident" was ambiguous when modified by the word "automobile." Division II found that the words "automobile accident" were not ambiguous and that it would have required a strained interpretation of the words to find an ambiguity

because the insured's injuries were caused by a robbery rather than a collision. Although the policy defined an "injured person" as an insured person who was injured by accident while occupying or being struck by an automobile, that language did not broaden the scope of coverage. Division II affirmed the declaratory judgment finding no coverage existed.

In deciding *Grelis* the Court of Appeals was not led astray by the insured's attempt therein to conjure up ambiguity where none existed. Likewise there is no ambiguity in this case and Eric was not involved in an automobile accident because neither one of the buses involved in the collision that caused his injuries fits the policy definition or the legislative definition of an automobile.

Likewise, the decision is consistent with *Tyrrell*. In *Tyrrell*, the question involved whether the term "motor vehicle" modified the word "accident" in such a way that would exclude Mr. Tyrrell's accident from coverage. The *Tyrrell* Court "cited *Grelis* with approval and held that the sensible and popular understanding of what is meant by a 'motor vehicle accident' necessarily involved a motor vehicle being operated as a motor vehicle:"

The Washington Supreme Court expanded on Grelis's analysis in Tyrrell. Mr. Tyrrell was injured while stepping down from his truck. Farmers denied PIP coverage under a "motor vehicle accident" policy. The policy defined the terms "motor vehicle" and "accident," but not "motor vehicle accident." accident" necessarily involves a motor vehicle being operated as a motor vehicle. Tyrrell, 140 Wn.2d at 136-37.

See Koren, supra at 959.

The Court of Appeals in the instant decision noted that both of those cases focused their analysis on the word accident and whether using "automobile" or "motor vehicle" to modify accident had an impact on coverage. *Id.* The result of both decisions was that those modifiers in the insurance policy limited the scope of an accident that could form the basis for recover. *Id.* The Court of Appeals ultimately concluded:

Consistent with Grelis and Tyrrell, the modifier 'automobile' attached to the word 'accident' in State Farm's policy compels us to conclude that Eric's injuries do not qualify for PIP coverage. It is not enough that Eric's injuries were sustained in an accident. For PIP coverage to apply, Eric's injuries must have been sustained in an accident that was causally connected to an automobile. Under the plain terms of the policy, they were not. Eric's injuries may have been the result of a 'motor vehicle accident,' but the PIP coverage in Mrs. Koren's policy was limited to an 'automobile accident.' Because neither vehicle in this accident was an 'automobile,' Eric's injuries cannot be considered to have been sustained in an 'automobile accident.'

Id.

Rather than address the first two considerations for acceptance of review, Petitioner ignores them hoping that it will be overlooked that the

Court of Appeals affirmatively noted the instant decision is consistent with the two primary cases that Petitioner has repeatedly attempted to rely upon.

2. The Instant Decision Is Based On Well-Reasoned Authority Mandating Adherence To The Plain And Unambiguous Policy Language.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that coverage does not exist in this case based on the plain and unambiguous policy language. When interpreting an insurance policy, it must be considered as a whole and given its "fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005) (citations omitted). When the policy language is clear and unambiguous, the policy must be enforced as written and Courts are not permitted to modify or create ambiguity where none exists. Id.; see also Anderson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 2007 WL 1557870 *8, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 39769 (W.D. Wash.) ("[I]f the plain language of the policy does not provide coverage, courts will not rewrite the policy to do so." citing Grange Ins. Co. v. Brosseau, 113 Wn.2d 91, 100, 776 P.2d 123 (1989)).

Further, contrary to Petitioner's argument "the expectations of the insured cannot override the plain language of the contract." *Id.*; see also

Nevers v. Aetna, Ins. Co., 14 Wn. App. 906, 908, 546 P.2d 1240 (1976) (when ambiguity does not exist the "...policy should be enforced according to its clear meaning and purpose, regardless of the coverage insured thought he had."). The Court should not be tempted to adopt Mrs. Koren's suggested reinvention of the well-established rules for resolving the straightforward coverage questions presented by this matter.

The plain meaning of "automobile" as defined in the State Farm policy is not difficult to discern because it is premised on the statutory definition established by the legislature in RCW 48.22.005. The definition of "automobile" provided in State Farm's policy is thus clear and unambiguous, encompassing only a motor vehicle designed to carry less than ten passengers. As the trial court and Court of Appeals correctly recognized below, they could not eviscerate that plain language in favor of creating an ambiguity that did not exist. They were required to enforce the policy definition in the absence of an ambiguity unless doing so would violate public policy. *Brown v. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 42 Wn. App. 503, 506, 711 P.2d 1105 (1986).

There is no ambiguity in the definition of "automobile" in the State Farm PIP insurance agreement. Likewise, ambiguity is not created when that word is used to modify the word "accident" in the policy. Large passenger vehicles do not meet the definition of automobile under

Washington PIP statutes or the State Farm PIP insurance agreement. When two full-size school buses collide, there is no automobile accident under the State Farm policy or under Washington statute. Therefore no PIP coverage is available for such an event. The Petition should be rejected.

C. The Petition Should Be Denied Because The Decision Does Not Involve An Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court.

1. Mrs. Koren's Attempt To Create A Substantial Public Interest Should Be Rejected.

The Petition should be denied because there is no issue of substantial public interest that requires determination by this Court and Mrs. Koren has no legitimate public policy argument. In her Petition, Mrs. Koren asks the Court to create some non-existent ambiguity as to the intent of the Legislature when it enacted the mandatory PIP provisions. The problem is she attempts to expand what the Legislature enacted by the express terms of the statute to support her public interest argument. Her argument fails.

RCW 48.22.085 requires mandatory offering of PIP coverage for all "new automobile liability policies," not for "all motor vehicle accidents." The intent of the Legislature is contained in the express language of RCW 48.22.085(1) and it states:

(1) No new automobile liability insurance

policy or renewal of such an existing policy may be issued unless personal injury protection coverage is offered as an optional coverage.

RCW 48.22.085(1) (emphasis added).

The Legislature, also by express language, intended that the definition of automobile for the purpose of Title 48 **excludes** large passenger vehicles designed for carrying more than ten passengers. *See* RCW 48.22.005(1) and RCW 46.04.382 (RCW 48.22.005(1) adopts the definition contained in RCW 46.04.382 for automobile "as a passenger car designed for carrying 10 passengers or less"). Furthermore, RCW 48.22.005(8) defines "automobile liability insurance policy" by express and unequivocal language:

(8) 'Automobile liability insurance policy' means a policy insuring against loss resulting from liability imposed by law for bodily injury, death, or property damage suffered by any person and arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of an insured automobile. ...

RCW 48.22.005(8) (emphasis added).

Based on these express provisions of the authorizing statute, the Court of Appeals concluded:

Excluding Eric's school bus accident from PIP coverage does not violate public policy. Consistent with State Farm's insurance policy, Washington law contemplates PIP coverage only for 'automobiles.' See RCW 48.22.085-100. Like State Farm, Washington defines an 'automobile' as

a passenger car designed for carrying 10 passengers or less. RCW 48.22.005(1); RCW 46.04.382. By its plain terms, Washington law does not require insurance companies to offer PIP coverage for large capacity vehicles, such as the school buses involved in this case

To the extent Mrs. Koren believes the public would be better served by requiring insurers to offer PIP coverage for all motor vehicle accidents, not just those involving an 'automobile,' her concerns must be raised with the legislature. Our court can offer no relief.

Koren, supra at 960 (emphasis added).

2. <u>Both The Trial Court And Court Of Appeals</u> Properly Rejected Ms. Koren's Public Policy Argument.

State Farm's definition of "automobile" unequivocally tracks the statutory definitions provided by the legislature; accordingly, the definition cannot contravene public policy. See id.; See also Barth v. Allstate Ins. Co., 95 Wn. App. 552, 560, 977 P.2d 6 (1999) (holding that when the language of an insurance provision closely tracks the authorizing statute it does not contravene public policy). Mrs. Koren's disappointment that her loss was not a covered loss does not implicate public policy notwithstanding her complaints to the contrary.

Washington Courts "rarely" invoke public policy to override express insurance contract provisions, even in instances where those express terms may "seem unnecessary or harsh in their effect." See

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Raynor, 93 Wn. App. 484, 499, 969 P.2d 510 (1999) quoting Cary v. Allstate Ins. Co., 130 Wn.2d 335, 340, 922 P.2d 1335 (1996). The Washington Supreme Court has made clear that insurers are permitted to limit their contractual liability so long as those limitations are not contrary to public policy and statute:

We have said that limitations in insurance contracts which are contrary to public policy and statute will not be enforced, but otherwise insurers are permitted to limit their contractual liability. While questioning the wisdom of certain exclusion clauses, we have been hesitant to invoke public policy or limit or avoid express contract terms absent legislative action. 'In general, a contract which is not prohibited by statute, condemned by judicial decision, or contrary to public morals contravenes no principle of public policy.'

State Farm General Ins. Co. v. Emerson, 102 Wn.2d 477, 481, 687 P.2d 1139 (1984) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The definition of "automobile" under the PIP coverage could not be more clear or less technical. It is a motor vehicle designed for carrying less than ten passengers. This unambiguous provision "must be enforced unless against public policy." *Brown, supra*, 42 Wn. App. at 506.

Mere dissatisfaction and disappointment that a loss falls outside the scope of coverage offered by a policy does not constitute a public policy violation. Mere listing of hypothetical fact patterns where some trigger coverage and some do not does not illustrate a public policy. Mrs. Koren fails to articulate a specific legitimate public policy of the State of Washington which she contends is violated by a provision expressly limiting PIP benefits to an automobile accident, defined in a way that does not include a school bus versus school bus collision.

The outcome at the trial court level and the Court of Appeals are well-reasoned and based on the express intent of the statutory provisions adopted by the Legislature and the plain language of the insurance contract. This Petition should be denied, and if Mrs. Koren believes that the outcome here is not what the Legislature intended then she must take that up with the Legislature.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Petition should be denied because Petitioner has failed to establish any of the considerations governing acceptance for review. The decision is not contrary to any decision of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court and the petition does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that must be addressed by the Supreme Court.

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